A Dysfunctional Empire?
The European context to Don Garcia de Silva y
Figueroa’s embassy to Shah Abbas
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The fall of the strategic fortress and island of Hormuz at the mouth of the Persian
Gulfto a joint Anglo-Persian assault in 1622 was, for many observers, highly symp-
tomatic of the decline of the Catholic Monarchy overseas, unable to defend one of
the older and most prized fortified possessions of the Portuguese Estado da India
against a long-predicted attack. It was, in some ways, also illustrative of the loss of
strength and reputation suffered by the multi-national Monarchy under the reign of
Philip III of Castile, II of Portugal (1598-1621), and in particular of the failure of the
Portuguese and Castilians to realize the benefits of the Union of Spanish Crowns
inaugurated in 1580 when Philip II had become king of Portugal, in what had proved
to be an ephemeral moment of triumph. Coming also at the beginning of the reign of
the young Philip IV, the fall of Hormuz could also be interpreted as a posthumous
indictment of the hesitant policies of the Duke of Lerma, all-powerful minister of
Philip III, at a time when the new valido, Don Gaspar de Guzman, Count-Duke of
Olivares, embarked upon a policy of energetic reform and forceful restoration of the
Monarchy’s international reputation. Tragically, all he achieved was to plunge Spain
into an even more disastrous European war, one which made any controlled reform

of the Estado da India, and of Spain itself, even more difficult.

If the transition between the two reigns can be interpreted as a missed opportunity to
implement much-needed reform on account of the urgent pressures caused by a long
war which wiser counsels would have avoided, and which eventually led to the se-
cession of Portugal, the earlier period can be analysed as the wasted opportunity to
address the Monarchy’s structural problems and foreign-policy challenges in un-
- precedented conditions of relative peace. In effect, the peace treaty with England in

1604 and the twelve-year truce reached with the Dutch Republic soon after, in 1609,
offered a rare opportunity for an overstretched multi-national Monarchy to restore its
ufmances and consider its long-term imperial needs. And yet the impression that most
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shall see, this problem is far from peripheral to understanding the sad fate of Don
Garcia’s long and accident-prone embassy to Shah Abbas: one could argue that
Portuguese sabotage, combined with unrealistic assumptions, ensured that the em-
bassy failed to advance the interests of the Monarchy and its peoples, and handed the
English traders, the common enemy, an unexpected triumph.

The nature of the Union of Crowns and its internal tensions

The incorporation of Portugal by Philip II of Castile into his vast domains despite
the existence of a rival candidate, the Prior of Crato Dom Antdnio, was both a plau-
sible succession by right, and an act of force backed by an army of 40,000 led by the
Duke of Alba. The agreement of the elites of the country to the new situation was
carefully negotiated by Philip II’s Portuguese servant Cristobal de Moura, and the
conditions were enshrined in the acts of the crucial Cortes of Tomar of 1581, which
cleverly took as a template a previous document of 1499 (a time when it had seemed
likely that a Portuguese prince would succeed the Catholic kings to the throne of
Castile). These statutes guaranteed that Portugal would be ruled by its laws and
through its own institutions. In effect, Philip and his successors would consider
themselves kings of Portugal separately from their other titles in Spain and else-
where, and they would rule Portugal through Portuguese naturals. Their overseas
empire too would remain a distinct concern of the Portuguese, not to be merged with
the Indies of Castile, and would be ruled from Lisbon by the king himself, or by a
viceroy assisted by a Council.” The formula of separate jurisdictions, which alone
made the Union acceptable to the Portuguese, was far from original to the new situa-
tion. In fact, it was most characteristic of the multi-national Monarchy as a whole,
which in Europe should be seen as a dynastic conglomerate rather than an empire.®
The model in fact had been created in the Crown of Aragon (itself a dynastic con-
glomerate) during the Middle Ages, and throughout the sixteenth century, following
the Union of the Crowns of Castile and Aragon and the acquisition of further territo-
ries in Italy and Northern Europe, developed into a regular system of viceroyalties or
governorships reporting to the court, which was increasingly fixed at the heart of
Castile for practical reasons rather than legal ones. Hence the Habsburg (originally
Burgundian) inheritance in Flanders, or the territories conquered in Italy (albeit on
the basis of some legal rights), were ruled by very similar principles of local auton-

3

This was the Council of State in Portugal, not to be confused with the Council of Portugal at the
court, or with the general Council of State for the whole Monarchy, also at the court. One of the
most successful innovations of the Habsburgs was also to create a Treasury Council (Conselho
de Fazenda) modelled on the Castilian precedent.

That is, the king of Castile had no jurisdiction as such over non-Castilian territories, although
SOYI;; hardliners with an imperialist vision claimed a right of conquest, for example in Portugal
itself.
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king was unable to rule directly from Lisbon and moved back to Castile, as he in-
deed did after 1583, he would leave a viceroy of the royal blood or, that failing, a
native Portuguese (an aristocratic junta of Portuguese governors was also considered
a safe alternative). What was to be avoided at all costs was a member of that Castil-
ian courtier aristocracy with vast estates which de facto had emerged as the ruling
elite of the Monarchy, and which often could be found acting as alter egos of the
king in territories such as Aragon or Naples (despite regular but usually ineffective
protests in these territories). Finally, when the king was away from the kingdom he
would consult all decisions with a Council of Portugal that would follow the court,
also exclusively made of Portuguese naturals. This solution to the problem of royal
absenteeism was in fact identical to the one adopted for other territories, and there

were Councils of Aragon, Italy and Flanders entirely separate from the Royal Coun-
cil of Castile.

Judging the Union from the perspective of the eventual rebellion of Portugal in
1640, and especially in the light of the lasting consequences of its remarkable suc-
cess (made possible by the inability of the Monarchy to simultaneously fight two
fronts in the peninsula), it is a temptation to interpret the tensions that emerged after
1580 as simply revealing that the experiment itself was contra natura and bound to
fail.'> There certainly was a long-lasting tradition of mutual antipathy between Cas-
tilians and Portuguese which the dynastic unification did very little to dissolve, but
of course the same can be said about Castilian relations with other Spanish nations
like the Catalans, who had also rebelled in 1640. It is therefore equally important to
retrieve the reasons why the incorporation of Portugal into a larger Hispania was for
much of the sixteenth century understood by many to be a desirable, and even
somewhat natural, outcome. Whilst seen from England or France the power of the
Monarchy was essentially the power of ‘Spain’ (and increasingly also the Castilian
language was known as ‘Spanish’, and Philip II ‘king of Spain’), an older concep-
tion persisted by which Spain continued to be the Roman territory of Hispania, en-

compassing the whole peninsula without constituting a single nation (what some

modern authors anachronistically refer to as ‘Iberia’). In this respect, it was only

after 1580 that Philip II and his descendants truly became kings of Spain, or, in the

plural form, ‘rey de las Espaifias’, a title Philip eagerly adopted following the lead of
humanist scholars. Well before 1580 many humanist writers and antiquarians, Cata-

lans like Joan Margarit (an adviser of the Aragonese Trastamaras), or Portuguese

administragdo e do comércio do ultramar portugués nos principios do século XVII (Lisbon,
1952), pp. 160-170 for the continuing debates under Philip III about the location of the line
agreed at Tordesillas (1494), and the validity of the subsequent sale of any remaining Castilian
rights to king John III by Charles V in the treaty of Saragossa (1529).

For Portuguese attitudes towards the Union see Anténio de Oliveira, Poder e oposigdo politica
1o periodo filipino, 1580-1640 (Lisbon, 1991), and more recently Pedro Cardim, “Los Portu-
guﬁses frente a la Monarquia Hispanica”, in A. Alvarez Ossorio & B. Garcia (eds.), La Monar-
quia de las naciones (Madrid, 2004), pp. 355-384.
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that had emerged during the centuries of “re-conquest” (the work by Ambrosio de
Morales is an example of this)."” The incorporation of Portugal therefore fulfilled an
old dream of some, whilst exacerbating the fears of many others.

The very use of the concept of Spain was for these reasons ambiguous and, as a
matter of fact, itself the location of a subtle political debate. To what extent should
the common geographical and historical space called Spain also become a political
unity, and what would that mean for its various nations? Precisely because he was
writing under the independent Avis dynasty, the defence offered by the Portuguese
humanist Damido de Gois of the honour of the whole peninsula in his Hispania
(Louvain, 1542), against the negative image offered by the northern cosmographers
Sebastian Miinster and M. Vilanovanus (who paradoxically happened to be the
Spaniard Miguel Servet writing in anonymity!) was, on the whole, politically un-
problematic. Similarly, Camdes in his Lusiadas had no hesitation to present Portugal
as the crown of nobre Espanha. However, under the anxious dynamics created by
the actual dynastic union any assertions or omissions became highly charged, and,

for example, it might have caused offence had the Jesuit Juan de Mariana failed to

include an account of Portuguese conquests in his epoch-making Historia general de
Espariia (1601), the first genuine attempt to combine the histories of all the medieval

kingdoms of Spain into a single comprehensive narrative (and hence one which
attached special meaning to the incorporation of Portugal to the Monarchy).'® The
book was an enormous success, but immediately there were some critics, demon-

strating that keeping the balance between the various patriotic sensibilities was not
easy.

During the reign of Philip III this subtle tension only grew. By 1609 Bartolomé Leo-
nardo de Argensola, himself an Aragonese patriot, clearly entered polemical waters
when he presented his Conquista de las Islas Molucas — that is, the recovery of Ter-
nate in 1606 by a combined effort of Portuguese and Castilians led by the Governor
of the Philippines Pedro de Acuila — as the joint success of the ‘Spanish’ working
together overseas, that is, as a model of what the Union of Crowns should be
about.'” The Congquista is carefully constructed so that the Spanish nation emerges as

On the debates about the Visigothic myth of origins against Roman and pre-Roman native
themes see Pablo Fernandez-Albadalejo, “Entre "godos" y "montafieses": Avatares de una
primera identidad espafiola”, in Alain Taillon (ed.), Le sentiment national dans I’Europe mérid-
ionale aux XVI° et XVIF siecles (Madrid, 2007), pp. 125-154.

The first edition, in Latin, was in 1592. The vernacular text followed the second expanded
edition of 1595. Richard Kagan, “Nacidn y patria en la historiografia de la época austriaca”, in
Taillon (ed.), Le sentiment national, pp. 205-225, offers a useful account of how historians in
this period such as Mariana or Garibay constructed the idea of Spain by combining in different
Proportions the various traditions of the peninsula, so that the patriotism of each kingdom was
not opposed to, but rather complemented, a wider identification with Spain.

On Argensola and the Congquista see John Villiers, “"A truthful pen and an impartial spirit":
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of Castilianization, in others, a defence of the prerogatives and honour of the Portu-

guese (or the Aragonese) in a common enterprise inspired by universalist ideals that
should not be dominated by Castile alone.*

By the time of Don Garcia de Silva y Figueroa’s embassy the official discourse of
Hispanic multi-nationalism remained largely intact, but at the court a powerful cur-
rent of opinion seeking to overturn it was consolidating, and would make itself felt
with particular force after the fall of the Lerma regime (which visibly declined in the
summer of 1617, just as Don Garcia, having clashed with the Portuguese viceroy
Don Jerénimo de Azevedo in Goa, finally travelled to Hormuz).*' It is not surprising
that the he embassy itself both reflected this tension, and acted as one more catalyst
of a hardening of antagonistic positions. A former corregidor from the town of Zafra
in Extremadura, natural son of the Duke of Feria Don Gomez Suarez de Figueroa,
and well connected at the court during Lerma’s regime (his sponsor at the Council of
State seems to have been Juan de Ididquez, one of the most notable survivals from

lanos. In other contexts he was willing to speak about Spain more generally, but the point was
not to credit other Spanish nations with the glory that he believed belonged to Castilians alone.
His controversial attack on the constitutionalist claims of the Aragonese during the famous a/-
teraciones of Ribagorga and Saragossa appeared in the first part of his Historia general del
Mundo (Madrid, 1601), and was later developed in the third volume of the same work, his
Tratado, relacion y discurso historico de los movimientos de Aragon (Madrid, 1612), both of
which elicited contrary replies from Aragonese patriots, including the Argensolas and the Cata-
lan Francisco Gilabert.
Another angle of the problem was of course the Monarchy’s need to respond to international
criticism of its policies with alternative history writing. The annexation of Portugal is a case in
point, with Philip II attempting to suppress the popular and lucid work by the independent Ge-
noese historian Girolamo di Conestaggio, Dell ‘unione del regno di Portogallo alla corona di
Castiglia (Genoa, 1585), which emphasized Philip II’s Machiavellian politics over his legal
rights. Antonio de Herrera was commissioned to write a reply, and he did so by cleverly taking
all the facts from Conestaggio and changing the interpretation. For a brief discussion of
Herrera’s Cinco libros de la historia de Portugal (Madrid, 1591), see Kagan, Clio and the
Crown, p. 136. Interestingly, Argensola’s version of the Union was entirely positive towards
Tomar (Congquista, p. 137) — yet again evidence that there was a moderate party that believed in
a federal kind of pan-Hispanism not equivalent to Castilianization.
It is important to note however that critics of Lerma came from two sides. Some, like the Jesuit
Mariana or the Franciscan Juan de Santa Maria, defended the idea of mixed government, which
took the Crown of Aragon as a positive model, at the same time that they attacked the figure of
the privado as a matter of principle (for the idea of mixed government see Joan-Pau Rubiés,
“La idea del gobierno mixto y su significado en la crisis de la Monarquia Hispénica”, Historia
Social, 24 [1996), pp. 57-82. For Santa Maria’s attack on the privado in his influential Rep-
ublica y Policia Christiana of 1615, see Antonio Feros, Kingship and Favoritism in the Spain
of Philip II1, 1598-1621 [Cambridge, 2000], pp. 236-238). But in retrospect one can see that
these ‘liberal” critics only offered a transition between two powerful privanzas, with the Duke
of Uceda (Lerma’s own son) and royal confessor Luis de Aliaga momentarily taking over (and
Yet still attracting a similar kind of criticism from Santa Maria). Olivares used these criticisms

of corruption to destroy the Uceda faction, but the core constitutionalist views of the likes of
Santa Maria were eventually sidelined.
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The tension between pan-Hispanism and Castilianization is very apparent in the
documents produced by Don Garcia’s embassy. The ambassador interpreted the
Portuguese as sabotaging his embassy because of their anti-Castilian feelings, ex-
pressed from the very moment of his appointment. Interestingly, in his view the
Portuguese rejection of Castile amounted to a rejection of Spain too: “not only do
they dislike the Union with the Monarchy of Spain, but under no circumstance do
they want to be named or perceived as Spaniards”.*® Even the testimony of Shah
Abbas could be used to present the Portuguese resistance to use the higher title of
‘king of Spain’ as ridiculous.?” Seen from this perspective, when the discalced Fran-
ciscan Hernando de Moraga (himself a native of New Spain), who in 1618 travelled
through Isfahan on his way to Spain with letters from the Governor of the Philip-
pines and witnessed the ambassador’s reception, in his Relacion for the king in early
1619 referred to some Portuguese gentlemen who betrayed Don Garcia’s trust as
‘Spanish’, it is likely that the choice of word was not casual: the term implied a
criticism of Portuguese lack of solidarity, in the context of a denunciation of a be-
trayal of the ambassador’s trust.”® Don Garcia’s secretary Saulisante was particularly
explicit about the importance of this national tension in his own account of the em-
bassy, written for the Council of State upon his return in 1620: “the viceroy and the
captains of Hormuz, as well as the other Portuguese hidalgos (but not the other peo-
ple of India) have always shown a clear enemity, for no other reason, as they them-
selves declared, that it was not reasonable, and it was not fitting to the reputation of
the Portuguese nation, that a Castilian ambassador should go to Persia. And they did
not say this because they had a particular hatred towards this gentleman [the ambas-
sador], but for a general hatred that they have to the Crown of Castile”.”’ Beyond the

through Lemos, with what he needed: a man other than Herrera to take the job of a general
chronicler supervising all history writing in the kingdom.
Don Garcia de Silva y Figueroa, Comentarios de la embajada que de parte del rey de Esparia

don Felipe III hizo al rey Xa Abas de Persia, ed. Manuel Serrano y Sanz (2 vols., Madrid,
1903), vol. II, 124-5.

Figueroa, Comentarios, vol. 11, p. 360.

“llegaron alli cuatro espafioles y un fraile agustino, los tres portugueses”, in Hernando de Mo-
raga, Relacion breve de la embaxada y presente que la Magestad del Rey Don Felipe Tercero
rey de las Espafias, y emperador del Nuevo Mundo, hizo a Xa Abay rey de Persia clarisimo
[.--] Adiccién a la Relacion de las cosas del reyno de Persia (s.1., 1619), . 5r. One of these
men, a Portuguese fidalgo, took with him Don Garcia’s letters for Spain, but then decided to re-
turn to Hormuz without returning the letters to the ambassador. Instead, according to Don Gar-
cia’s secretary Saulisante who was sent to chase the letters, he sold them to the Captain of
Hormuz, Don Luis da Gama, who was Don Garcia’s enemy and used to discredit him. See Ap-
pendix 1, “Relacion de la Embaxada que higo en Persia Don Gargia de Silva y Figueroa (1620)
by his secretary Saulisante”, edited by Joan-Pau Rubsiés, infra, pp. 141-172.

“assi el virrey y capitanes de Ormuz, como los demas hidalgos portugueses (no lo siendo ansi
toda la demis jente de la India), han siempre mostrado una enemistad clara, congevida no mas,
como ellos degian, porque ndo era rragdo, hem comvin a reputagdo de nagdo portuguesa, que
Jora un embaxador castelchano a Persia. Y esto no lo degian por odio particular de este
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extent inherited and implemented, with fatal consequences, the themes of that tradi-
tion.*" In his Discurso politico of 1598, written in prison and developing the ideas of
former royal secretary Antonio Pérez, the translator of Tacitus Alamos de Barrientos
was clear that the Portuguese resented their recent subjection to Castile, and in par-
ticular the distance of king and court, blaming their ill-fortune overseas to that sub-
jection. It was important to note that unlike the Aragonese Crown, Portugal was a
‘conquered kingdom’ (not exactly the official position), and Castilian troops still
manned a number of strategic fortresses. He concluded that “the Portuguese are

enemies of the Castilians” and would seize any chance to change sovereign. As his

main thesis was that the Monarchy could only rely on Castile and its /ndias Occi-

dentales (Flanders, Italy and the Crown of Aragon all presented equivalent problems

of conditional loyalty), he thought that whilst in the short term the best policy was to
visit those states, and in Portugal it may even be worth the while closing down the
Castilian presidios, in the longer term the best policy would be to unify the elites and

the laws, so that “Castile would remain Castile and Aragon and Portugal would

become Castile”.>?

The case of the count of Salinas Diego de Silva y Mendoza (1564-1630), a talented
poet and future Marquis of Alenquer, is perhaps even more significant. The second
son of the Portuguese Ruy Gomes de Silva, one of Philip II’s trusted servants, and of
the princess of Eboli, he was a typical career courtier who emerged during the
valimiento of the Duke of Lerma as a key member of the Council of Portugal (1605-
1615), acting as treasury supervisor (veedor de fazenda) and, de facto, also as its
President, with the crucial power to set the agenda, although this position was bit-
terly contested by rival aristocrats and not fully formalized.*® The Portuguese always
considered him a Castilian, as he was born and grew up in Castile (in 1601 Salinas
moved to Portugal for a few years apparently for the sole purpose of being able to

claim that he was a Portuguese natural), and they were especially reluctant to accept
him as viceroy in Lisbon in 1617, sensing that his task was to reform the administra-

*'" For the wider context of this political thinking see Pablo Fernandez Albadalejo, La Crisis de la
Monarquia, in Historia de Esparia, ed. Josep Fontana & Rafael Valladares, Vol. IV (Barcelona
& Madrid, 2009), chapter 1.

Discurso politico al rey Felipe Il al comienzo de su reinado, ed. Modesto Santos (Barcelona,
.. 1990), pp. 106-107.

Salinas in effiect replaced Juan de Borja, Lerma’s ally, in that position (1599-1606). His status
as the most senior member of the Council was resented by the Count of Vilanova, Manuel de
Castelo Branco, who was disappointed in his expectation to succeed Borja. Vilanova created an
alliance with Borja’s son Carlos, Duke of Villahermosa and Count of Ficalho, who eventually
took over the leadership fo the Council (1617-1621) when Salinas was sent to Lisbon as vice-
10y, during the closing years of Philip III (this was also the time of the tortuous decline of the
Sandovals and the ascendacy of Baltasar de Zuiiiga in the Council of State). The long feud be-

tween Salinas and his rivals created a great deal of dysfunctionality within the Council, and
prompted calls for its reform or even suppression.

32



’_——

JOAN-PAURUBIES
100

oo 34 i erma’s key man in the
. e He was in effect L :
: ding to Madrid’s priorities. _ . with Shah
tl;)fn'accoofrPlgrg}ugal at the court during the perloq vs{hen the;l dtl};:lor:lcg'per o 1612
ool at its height. It is therefore highly significant tha B Porl
e vzasLerma he argued that the king ruled as an absalute SPVG(;e g’s local pow-
‘:;(1; ttilr;r:ffore had no reason to seek any compromlsfe.t with tl;zplillﬁ dogiterly e
i en co

. . o that the Portuguese elites were 0 . uthorit

E(:gs ,1 'mssl?;ztrgz:gd to echo the doctrines of Jean Bodin, by which the supreme & y
alina

al

i ilva’ Ruy Gomes, the prince of EbOl'l, in relation to
S b){ Da:iﬁ?llf[iif-:n?tli\(l)iasl tl?;gi;rch;l (Eboli had defended a policy é)flf:or;l;\);;
ho'w be'St ﬂile local elites in the Netherlands against the Duke of Alba): almz s
s Wltlll1t ﬁ Ed setting the agenda pursued by Olivares ten years latc?r. c(;n y more
01131 thlit?lt?riniiple of royal authority would be able to force all the kingdoms
abso

36
Monarchy to contribute to the needs of the State.

ught that under Lerma’s valimiento the desire for peace,

Although it used to be tho
mainly in order to restore

the Monarchy’s finances,

had led to a return to a more
Is, there is a growing consen-

traditional form of Govemment by aristocratic Counci

sus that in reality Lerma worke

d to circumvent those same institutions through the

.] g

it
e also Trevor J. Dadson, “The Duke of Lerma and the Count 0

.
3 For details on his career s¢ . St e Ol

Salinas: Politics and friendship in early seventeenth-century

terly, 25,1 (1995), pp- 5-38.

y y mn hlS mj Oltallt ono ap]l about tlle VICeloy-
IlllS dOCuIIlellt 18 allal Zed b Claude Galllard 1 p m gr

y - L'acti ieoo de Silvay Mendoza
£ Salinas, Le Portugal sous Philippe III d’Espagne: L 'action ge DetlsggDii tamenyde1 ot
alty o 1 19é3) pp. 107-188. I have consulted the edition by E. 1(11c 1 , Dictame e il
(d(e}rgn?b = en qu,e se. examinan las prerrogativas de la Corona y de las
alinas

7 -386.

] istori ho Espariol, 9 (1932), pp. 375 3 ' ‘ .

o Ol g de'l Derec eZ J I—f Elliott, The Count-Duke of Olivares: The statesmt;n zr;;zl
 BnOe A 81 1986). For his policies towards Portugal see also J.t.
age of decline (New Haven & London, , 01640, e il

i inedom of Portuga
Elliott, “The Spanish Monarchy and the king omf . o) 4, in et okl

: shaping o, i Hispdni :
Sl Conqugsg;]m:sc\zce]llleizeg;zzhlilvar{cjz,%’0”“8“1 en la Monarquia HlSpan:;; .cz/rlnotree—;lfc
LB} e ~tant work by Jean-Frédéric Schaub, Le Portugal a tempsd'cal proposals
cently see the [FIPRCH ™ Madrid, 2001) which offers a glimpse of the most 10 SC A Fog
d'Olivares (4631 the eve of the rebellion, which requested not simply to mo ty Portugal
received by Olivares on the |ly dispense with them in order to fully incorporate o8

o plf did not embrace these views, but they are symp'

ex-
of the Castilianizing programme that had been

the provisions of Tomar, ' .

into Castile (pp. 105-113). Qllvares himse

matic of the radicalization in the 1630s

pressed more timidly ip previous d;cades.KingShW er
37 for this kind of rt’-l‘-,tlisclzlrl gr:o:ieees asgozziminisuati’ve programmes to enhance thc:1 lgllrjgrrsn z?s i

e prommfhpodlecision—making process into the hands of Philip III, Lerm(';l _21 -

?’nd Zflr:itr:rl;iur;” For the effects of this policy of juntas on Portugal and 1ts

ies :

Feros, Kingship, pp- 160-162.

pp. 69-70, noting that the new rulers “did

THE EUROPEAN CONTEXT OF THE EMBASSY 101

autonomy and traditions of other kingdoms, this was not for the lack of a current of
opinion advocating such a policy amongst his closest collaborators, but rather be-
cause such a policy would incur such political costs that it seemed easier to concen-
trate on finding ways of maximizing the extraction of financial resources from the
royal revenue that belonged to the king in each separate kingdom.*® By contrast,
Lerma derived his power, together with the means to enhance his personal wealth
and that of his clients, from controlling access to the royal person. Therefore, rather
than prompting the direct contact between the king and his subjects, he sought to
isolate the king, both by restricting access within the court (his most dangerous po-
litical rivals were sent away to serve as viceroys and ambassadors), and by mini-
mizing any journeys outside Castile, where the king would be expected to hold Cor-
tes, a more complicated way of obtaining resources. It was typical of this policy that
during his reign of over two decades the king only visited Portugal once, in 1619,
that is towards the end of his reign and only after repeated delays (the huge expenses
of such journeys in what in effect was an overly inflated court contributed a great
deal to the consolidation of this problem).” The crown of Aragon suffered a similar
pattern but with the opposite chronology, as the only royal visit was in 1599, at the
start of the reign. Unlike his predecessors, Philip III never left the Spanish peninsula,
so that the sense of alienation experienced in Italy or the loyal provinces of Flanders
was even more acute. In practice this meant that the process of Castilianization pro-
ceeded through the stability of the court in Madrid (or Valladolid) rather than
through the reform of the other kingdoms. The affairs of the non-Castilian territories,
in the hands of viceroys with limited powers, suffered neglect and were dealt with
slowly, through complex bureaucratic channels. Indeed, the court of Philip III be-
came famous for how slowly and uncertainly all business proceeded. In this context
of royal absenteeism and institutional corruption, policy towards Portugal and its
empire lacked energy and determination, with the single exception of the special
Jjuntas created both in Madrid and Lisbon to extract more resources for the royal
coffers, the one area where Lerma’s regime was innovative and, if necessary, willing
to openly challenge the agreements of Tomar by appointing Castilians. These juntas
were in fact quite successful in their primary purpose of untapping hidden sources of
revenue.®” However, the combination of rapacity and neglect that characterized the

It is symptomatic that many of those writers proposing a contractualist idea of monarchy, and
in particular, the idea of mixed government, were often critics of the system of privanza in gen-
eral, and of Lerma in particular. One should not confuse Lerma’s obscene use of office to pur-
sue his own family’s fortunes with the defence of the interests of the aristocracy in general, let
alone with a belief in the institutionalization of the political power of the aristocracy and the
cities in order to moderate absolute monarchy (on this see also Feros, Kingship, pp. 125-126).
For details of that visit see Pedro Cardim, “La jornada de Portugal y las Cortes de 1619”, in
Martinez Millan & Visceglia (eds.), La Monarquia de Felipe II1, vol. IV, pp. 900-946.

Antonio Feros, Kingship, pp. 160-162; Bernardo José Garcia Garcia, La pax hispdnica: Politica
exterior del duque de Lerma (Louvain, 1996), pp. 246-247. Portugal was not alone in suffering
that kind of selective attention: the kingdom Naples was subjected to substantial financial pres-
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Politica, cultura, representagoes (Lisbon, 2000), pp- 209-238.

been one of the most rational and success-
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architect of the agreements of Tomar and Philip II’s most trusted minister in the
closing years of his reign. Lerma was logically keen to keep this potential rival away
from the court (Philip II had hoped that his son would retain Moura as his key ad-
viser), and even refused his request to become President of the Council of Portugal,
relying instead on Juan de Borja, Count of Ficalho, as a man he could trust to follow
orders, and after he died, on the Count of Salinas.*’ On the other hand, Moura’s
prestige, experience and common sense could prove invaluable, and it is sympto-
matic of the difficulty of finding lay Portuguese of stature willing to respond to the

priorities of the court that Moura was appointed viceroy for two full terms (1601-

1603, 1608-1612) and that in the intermediate periods the court was forced to ap-

point bishops and archbishops in that key govemment position.* Moura’s only true
lay successor was the Count of Salinas, whose tenure (1617-1621) was bitterly con-
tested, as he was rightly seen as an agent of Castilianization and unsympathetic to
the spirit of Tomar. Paradoxically, it was under his regime, in 1619, that Philip III’s
only visit to Portugal finally took place, crystallizing the clash of political cultures
that had been developing since 1583, when Philip II had left his new kingdom, never

to return.

44

The Monarchy’s system of councils was particularly complex on relation to Portu-
gal. The old Council of State remained in Lisbon with a local aristocratic member-
ship in order to assist the viceroy in his decision making, but with the king usually
absent, its political role was diminished. Instead, the king took his own parallel
Council of Portugal to Madrid, where it operated in a similar fashion as the other
territorial councils of the Monarchy. According to the statutes of Tomar, this Coun-
cil of Portugal was meant to guarantee the interests of the kingdom at the court, as it
would prevent foreigners from dispatching the relevant business, but in practice, as a
small group of Portuguese nobles and bureaucrats became acclimatized at the court,
it was increasingly seen as a tool for the subtle Castilianization of the decision-
making process. Especially during Lerma’s regime, the Council of Portugal became
dominated by a few aristocratic clans remote from the kingdom and connected to the
favourite by marriage or political alliance, accumulating lands and titles from differ-

ent parts of the peninsula (men like the Count of Salinas Diego de Silva, or like Juan

42

43

44

As the Venetian ambassador Contarini noted in his description of Borja, “De éste se ha de
presumir encaminara siempre lo que el duque de Lerma quisiere, y cuando no, se ird con la opi-
nién de los muchos [...] no es dificil regalarle por la mujer e hijos, que son muchos, y es hom-
bre que sabe hacer que no ve”. Quoted in Santiago Luxan Meléndez, La revolucion de 1640 en
Portugal, sus fundamentos sociales y sus cardcteres nacionales: El Consejo de Portugal, 1580-
1640 (Madrid, 1988), p. 186.

On Moura see Alfonso Danvila y Burguero, Don Cristébal de Moura, primer marqués de
Castel Rodrigo, 1538-1613 (Madrid, 1900).

For the Cortes of 1619 see Gaillard, Le Portugal sous Philippe Il d’Espagne. Philip 111 fell ill
on his way back to Madrid, and died at the end of March 1621 without countersigning the acts
agreed in the Cortes of Lisbon (and, some said, regretting his failures as king).
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de Borja and his son Carlos de Borja, who were Dukes of Villahermosa as well as
Counts of Ficalho). To make things worse, the Council of Portugal proved to be
peculiarly dysfunctional during Lerma’s regime, as it became deeply divided by
aristocratic factions (the feud between the Count of Salinas and his many rivals for
the politically crucial title of President of the Council was notorious and prompted
Salinas’s eventual dismissal). As a result the Council itself was continuously re-
formed, and there were even talks of suppressing it altogether.* By the time of Don
Garcia’s embassy, one of the key arguments of this current of criticism was that its
members had insufficient personal experience of the affairs of the Estado da India.

Whilst its personnel was divided and (at least in part) psychologically distant from
Lisbon, the Council remained jealous of its prerogatives. Unsurprisingly, and like
many other councils, it also saw its powers eroded by the creation of special juntas
where Lerma (and later Olivares) could exercise more executive control. Of enor-
mous importance was the Junta de Hacienda de Portugal created in 1602, in order to
deal with the treasury aspects of the business, including the annual armadas to India,
and which worked in tandem with a parallel junta in Lisbon (created in 1601) which
allowed Castilian officers to control the business of the Junta de Fazenda of Portu-
gal. The Junta at the court also incorporated Castilian officers (it was meant to func-
tion as a joint Castilian-Portuguese institution with superior jurisdiction), and there-
fore openly contradicted the terms of Tomar.*® It was questioned not only in Portu-

* On the Council of Portugal there is the excellent doctoral dissertation by Luxan Meléndez, La
revolucion de 1640 en Portugal. 1t is especially significant that after various reforms in 1602
and 1607, the Council was suspended between 1612 and 1614, and again in 1615 (Luxdn Melé-
ndez, La revolucion de 1640 en Portugal, pp. 228-266). In effect, Lerma had by 1609 lost con-
trol of the feud between Salinas, Villahermosa and the count of Vilanova, and it was Moura
who offered an alternative plan by which the great men would all be licensed, and the king
would visit Portugal. However, it took years before all this was implemented. Although in late
1612 the Council was de facto closed and a junta to reform it had been created, Salinas counter-
manoeuvred by allying himself with Lerma’s son Uceda and the confessor Aliaga, in what were
the first signs of Lerma’s political decline. It was at that point that Salinas also proposed an
openly centralizing policy, against those who believed in respecting the spirit of Tomar. Un-
fortunately the royal visit was repeatedly postponed (although the money to fund it had been
collected in Portugal), until well after the death of Moura in 1613, which deprived the moderate
party of its most distinguished voice (in the Council however there remained Secretary Fer-
nando de Matos, canon of Evora, who was Moura’s man and also connected to the Bragangas).
In 1615 a renewed Council more “according to plan of the Cortes of Tomar” was finally placed
under the charge of fray Aleixo de Meneses, former Archbishop of Goa and the most recent
viceroy in Lisbon. However Lerma, who was particularly reluctant to meet the Cortes, contin-
ued to postpone any royal visit, whilst trying to get rid of Salinas by making him the next vice-
roy with the title of Marques of Alenquer.

4 Santiago de Luxan Meléndez, “El control de la Hacienda Portuguesa desde el poder central: la
Junta de Hacienda de Portugal, 1602-1608”, Revista da Faculdade de Letras: Histdria, s. 2, 9
(1992), pp. 119-135. Lerma of course ensured that the Junta included his closest associates, his
hechuras, men of relatively modest origins like the minister of finance Alonso Ramirez de
Prado (a letrado from Zafra, of New Christian origins) and secretary of state Pedro Franqueza
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also been assigned to the kingdom of Portugal). The potential for rupture became
clear in 1611, when the Council of State decided to send a high-profile embassy and
suggested that two lay ambassadors accompany Gouveia back to Persia, one of
which would be Castilian. Moura, viceroy in Lisbon, was against the idea of two
ambassadors, a sure way of ensuring a fiasco, but he also noted that the single man
should be Portuguese. The Council of Portugal at the court proposed three Portu-
guese names. However, that Council was so weakened by institutional instability
and factional divisions that it failed to develop a consistent policy, whilst the Coun-
cil of State sought to impose Don Garcia de Silva y Figueroa (1550-1624), and this
was the only name that survived after a delay of one year.*’ Typical of the relation
between the two councils was the complaint that the Council of Portugal did not
have a clear understanding of what obeying the royal will entailed — it meant not
questioning decisions based on the recommendations of the Council of State (after
they had been approved by the king). There was of course a need to coordinate the
two Councils, as the correspondence of the next few years on the affairs of the Per-
sian embassy suggests. If anything, the military threat to Hormuz was now in every-
body’s mind. The obvious solution, to create a small mixed junta in order to deal
with the parallel Persian embassies of Don Garcia and Robert Sherley, was finally
proposed in October 1618 by Don Baltasar de Zufiiga (himself an immensely experi-
enced ambassador, who upon his return to the court immediately came to dominate
the Council of State). The junta soon came with a concrete plan for a commercial
agreement with Shah Abbas. That this junta and its proposal had come so late, and,
as it turned out, too late to alter the course of events, showcases the institutional
inertia and lack of reflexes of the final years of Lerma’s regime.

There is evidence that the various institutional tensions in the peninsula had a role in
encouraging an atmosphere against Don Garcia in Goa and Hormuz. Divisions of
the Council of Portugal often obeyed complex motives, as aristocratic clans could
clash over questions of precedence and personal gain rather than over policies ac-
cording to a coherent political vision. Nevertheless, there was a general pattern by
which the aristocracy stood between the privileges of the kingdom and the interests
of the king, and the opposition to the Castilianization of Portugal’s foreign policy
represented by Don Garcia was well represented within the Council of Portugal by
the many enemies of the Council’s strong man, Diego de Silva y Mendoza, Count of
Salinas and future viceroy of Portugal. A letter of October 1615 written by Nuno

For details see Gil, EI Imperio luso-espaiiol, vol. II, pp. 195-214. Gil notes that at some point
the Council of State relented, but that the Portuguese candidates were considered too expensive,
so the decision was postponed. An undecisive discussion between the two Councils, with inter-
ventions from Moura and Gouveia, took place in the early months of 1612. Given that the even-
tual economic demands made by the successful Don Garcia were also very high, one may sus-
pect that this delay was simply a manoeuvre to divert the Council of Portugal. By the time the
1ssue was decided again in the late 1612, only Don Garcia was considered, and the Council of
Portugal began to drag its feet about funding the embassy.
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fzsseGiheEr[e(I:’iglij:nt was an ecclesiastical dignity who was in Portugal. Meneses b€
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It\gmgs;mcial debacle of the Lerma regime in 1607 with Pedro Franqueza a

e

had landed him in prison for some years. T S 3
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Salinas in the Council, acting as an ally of the former viceroy Cristobal de Moura at
the court.” Finally, we also learn that this factional resentment extended to
Archbishop Meneses, who was therefore seen by some as too close a collaborator
with the court. As we have seen, Meneses had been instrumental in taking the power
over the affairs of India from Francisco da Gama, although his personal agenda was
unlikely to have been to Castilianize the empire, but rather to strengthen his own

powers as viceroy in Lisbon, by transferring the business back to his Council of
State in Lisbon.**

We may reach as a first conclusion that, as far as the decision-making process in
Portugal and Spain was concerned, the many clashes between a Castilianized court
and a regno that felt neglected and marginalized, not least in relation of the crucial
decisions affecting its empire, created the key tension underlying many of the prob-
lems of the embassy to Persia, and might have been more decisive than sheer prob-
lems of institutional complexity and physical distance.” Fear of Castilianization was
not irrational, as some historians have asserted, but rather the axis of political tension
in the face of imperial decline. There have been various historiographical revision-
isms concerning what ‘national’ meant in the seventeenth century, when there ex-
isted no nation-state as we know it, but rather a composite monarchy of many king-
doms, and an aristocratic society dominated by networks of clientele, divided by
factions, and where corruption was rife.% However, there can be no doubt that na-

53 Matos had joined the Council in 1602 as secretary of state and quickly became a key member.

The Lucena-Matos were clients of the Bragancas.

Therefore attitudes to don Garcia were most negative in Portugal, with Don Francisco da Gama
acting as leader, and most positive amongst the great aristocrats in the Council of State, the
Mendozas (Dukes of Infantado) and Toledos (Dukes of Villafranca), as well as the Count of
Salinas. Castel Rodrigo and his party presented a moderate opposition which expressed their
own political vision half way between the rights of the Portuguese and the needs of the Monar-
chy.

This sense of neglect in relation to the defence of Portuguese trade in the Indies was clearly
identified in a report written by court councillor Mendo da Mota at the start of Philip IV’s
reign. See British Library, MS Egerton 1133, ff. 268r-275r, containing a letter of May 4
(probably addressed to Olivares) where Mota claimed that the conservation of Portugal was
threatened because the Union had not respected the kingdom’s ‘natural and essential principles
of government’, and a slightly earlier report to the same (ff. 272r-275r) arguing for the detri-

mental effects of collective government by great noblemen, and offering an assessement of the
legitimate complaints of the Portuguese, which included the waste of Crown resources, which

should have gone to maritime defence, by the previous administration, as well as some abuses

of jurisdiction by Castilian soldiers in Lisbon. Mota, therefore, both advised a stronger monar-

chical power that would curtail aristocratic abuses (which he thought was in line with existing

54

55

A laws and privileges), and more investment in imperial defence.

Beyond the nation-state paradigm, the complex political culture of early-modern Spain is ex-
plored in Pablo Fernandez-Albadalejo, Fragmentos de Monarquia (Madrid, 1992). Of particu-
lar relevance are the essays collected in Taillon (ed.), Le sentiment national. For Portugal, see
also Fernando J. Bouza Alvarez, “La herencia Portuguesa de Baltasar Carlos de Austria: El di-
rectorio de Fray Antonio Branddo para la educacion del heredero de la monarquia catdlica”,
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tional identities were a crucial site of confrontation.”” Of course aristocratic patriots
riotism) were largely

(and there were popular as well as aristocratic brands of pat

concerned with protecting their own pool of jobs, and the economic opportunities
that those jobs entailed: from the variety of titles and other mercedes available at
court (encomiendas, ayudas de costa and various other rents), to the expensive gifts

and other forms of bribery that one could expect or even request when an officer in
o the very commercial opportunities offered by the Estado

the local administrations, t
da India, of which those enjoyed by the captain of Hormuz were amongst the most

coveted, the whole system of service to the Crown was in effect a system of private

l)eneﬁt in the name of the common ()()d.58 And yet at the same time there was a real
g ¥
he COIlCCpt of Spain:

clash of collective visions, one which increasingly centred on t
was Portugal to be Spanish in its own terms, by perpetuating the multi-national char-
acter of the Union, or rather through its Castilianization, given the fixation of the

court in Madrid and the superior demographic and military power of Castile? Or was

t the growing identification of the Spanish nation with the laws

it perhaps the case tha
and language of Castile would lead to a break with those provinces that felt more

e

Cuadernos de Historia Moderna, 9 (1988), pp- 47-61, who speaks about ‘sentimiento nacion-
alista’ underlying the identity of Portugal as a separate kingdom under the same king. From a
different perspectve Schaub, Le Portugal, emphasizes the need to question the nationalistic as-
sumptions of much traditional historiography, following Antonio Manuel Hespanha in his in-
stitutional analysis of the early-modemn state. Much work has also gone towards analyzing the
political identity of the Aragonese kingdoms, especially Catalonia. For a reasessment of a semi-
republican vision in the concept of mixed government sec J. P. Rubiés, “Reason of state and
constitutional thought in the Crown of Aragon, 1580-1640", The Historical Journal, 38 (1995),

ive which argues for a sharp separation between early-modern pa-

pp. 1-28, and, from a perspect
triotism and modern nationalism, Xavier Torres, “Un patriotisme sense nacié: qué va ser

|’anomenada Guerra dels Segadors, 1640-1652/16597”, in Josep M. Fradera & Enric Ucelay-
Da Cal (eds.), Noticia Novade Catalunya (Barcelona, 2005), pp. 61-96.

57 As Alain Taillon notes (Le Sentiment national, p. Xi), early-modern national identities were less
exclusive than modern ones, in part because there was no necessary link between national
community and political sovereignty. By contrast, the pursuit of an exclusive correlation be-
tween the two, with the idea of a national will legitimizing the absolute sovereignty of the state
(often leading to increasing state control of cultural identities) characterizes the politics of post-

1789 nation-states. At the turn of the seventeenth century it was perfectly possible for a gen-

tleman like Don Francisco Gilabert, who was at the same time born in the Catalan-speaking
hence a member

part of Aragon and involved in the famous alteraciones, a baron in Catalonia,
of its Corts, and a gentilhombre de la boca del rey at the court of Philip III, to emphatically es-
pouse three different patriotisms, Catalan, Aragonese and Spanish (but not Castilian), even de-
veloping some republican themes, of particular importance for his Discursos on Catalonia. This
does not mean that these national communities were artificial: they all made sense a8 institu-
tional, legal and cultural spaces (including of course linguistic realities) that might, or might
not, overlap, depending on specific elements.
8 The aristocratic elite were of course also best
themselves, for example, both Spanish and Portuguese. For the common
and local languages were more decisive. Xavier Torres qualifies his argume
nacionalismo. Catalufia en la monarquia hispdnica (Valencia, 2008).

placed to alternate national identities and consi(_iel'
people, local identifies
nt in Naciones S
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The International context: the peace that failed

However important the tension between Madri ;
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a5 8 svmbol of ymp Orpatlc of the decline of the Portuguese imperial syst

ymbol of such decline, and through an analysis of its causes el

In his now classi i i
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i 0 pc})lor decision-making. In particular, it was the commer-
P e e pS tI;es that allowe(% the'm ‘fo seize the trade from the Estado da
more passive attituge tow::(%: atl;ie i;aikerte dllfltrtlltl)}ltive (i'mtitution, B e e
=" . et. is reading, the Portugues
: (;))urces tz)vet:krlee ;E?Ell: n:obsucceed in Per§1a, despite devoting much attfntioi erll(:l tr}:—:
g o heproplen ,W ecatluse they failed to understand what the crucial issue was
— as cl) I:C.dlI'CCt trade towards Europe, one needed to abandor;
S elxpfomng the‘lof:a‘l customs duties in Hormuz, and instead
e Compe y elo commermahzmg the silk in Europe, which alone guar-
sary concentration of resources and operations.” Unable to l:?reak

their own mould, the Spani
: 5 panish and Portuguese would i
lasting Company for the trade of India themselves.("’)(gl subsequendy full to create ®

Steensgaard’s i i
™ ﬁrgSt a?lds rﬁlte:pftgtlon can b.e and has been questioned on a number of ground
" ost obvious criticism, is that the crisis in Persia does not demonstratS .
e

59
Niels Steensgaard, Carracks, C.
: ; , Caravans and Co jes: iSis i
. ,;zia;ltr?de R e 1’;71)3‘2)’”8& The structural crisis in the European-
e i : .
light of 1 ;;t}l}l:es;f th1s.C(‘)mpany, created under Olivares’ regime, see Anthony Dis .
A (Cambridppe Mej;np:rge, Portuguese trade in Southwest India in the Early Sezentene};l’ gWI_
e ]628g e éomgg). Alsto Valladares, Castilla y Portugal, pp. 47-49 Alth::’;h orel’l1_
5 ny, interestingly, had been deci by g ¢
. . ) n decided upon by th
e Oi‘n;;r}& 3)161233]after learning c_)f the fall of Hormuz. Thg letrgdo T\A(;(r)lltligc(lilaol\f/lsmte o
B e o ;Cl of Portugal (since 1612) who best undertood the trade with I d(')ta’ the
rafting the proposals. Alternative proposals had been made by Anthn la,SI\ims
ony Sher-

le) befOIe the f ormuz but some O ]llS ldeas 1m lled lel ing on the Castlllall route
a“ ()f H s f 1S i i p i y g
hIOugh the I alelC, Whlch was hlghly pIOblelllatIC
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rent commercial model, but rather the lack of politi-

cal coherence and military discipline of the Portuguese, and in particular the decline
of their naval power, both in quantity and quality. To these internal problems
(which, arguably, owed a great deal to the long-term dynamics of the Estado da
India and its system of annual armadas) we must add the hesitant and half-hearted

urt in Madrid, and the sabotage that they suffered in Portuguese

policies of the cO
India.t' The second criticism would insist on some fundamental similarities between

the Portuguese imperial system and those of the English and Dutch Companies — not

that there were not important differences, but their nature might have been much

subtler than what can be captured with a structural analysis, especially one that tends
1 hypothesis that is

to interpret the Companies as simply more ‘modern’. The crucia

worth reconsidering in the light of this debate, and in particular by reemphasizing
the importance of contingent decision-making, is that the fall of Hormuz may not
after all have been inevitable. Before we can return to this point, however, it seems
clear that the pressure suffered by the Portuguese imperial system under the Union
of Crowns was directly related to the emergence of the Dutch and English as a
threat. In this respect, the European context of the embassy extends, well beyond
Lisbon and Madrid, to England and the Dutch Provinces, where the Spanish Monar-

chy found its fiercest maritime enemies.

a structural superiority of a diffe

The international impact of the incorporation of Portugal into the first truly global
empire was unexpectedly detrimental to the interests of the Monarchy, as throughout
the 1580s it rallied its foreign enemies around the threat of a pan-Hispanic Catholic
hegemony (albeit some of the enemies, France in particular, were themselves Catho-
lic powers). In particular, the union of Hispanic crowns stimulated a sense of inter-
national Protestant solidarity which gave renewed opportunities t0 the rebel Dutch
Provinces, which soon targeted Spanish and Portuguese trade overseas, in the West
and East Indies. Some historians have argued that it was precisely the fear of a
united Spain, with its two overseas empires combined, that provoked its Protestant
enemies, the Dutch and the English, to seek to challenge directly the Catholic Mon-

The Portuguese Empire in Asia, 1500-1700: A

political and economic history (London, 1993), pp- 212-214 and 271-276. Also Sanjay
Subrahmanyam & L. F. Thomaz, “Evolution of empire: The Portuguese in the Indian Ocean
during the sixteenth century”, in James D. Tracy (ed.), The Political Economy of Merchant
Empires: State power and world trade, 1350-1 750 (Cambridge, 1991), pp. 298-331, empha-

sizing the evolving nature of the Portuguese system and its relative profitability. Subrah-
manyam in turn has been criticized for going to0 far in denying fundamental differences be-
ore balanced position see Francisco

tween the Anglo-Dutch and Portuguese models. For a m
Bethencourt, “political configurations and local powers”, in Francisco Bethencourt & Diogo
Ramada Curto (eds.), Portuguese Ocean Expansion, 1 400-1800 (Cambridge, 2007), PP- 1978

254, especially 222 ff. In any case, it must be noted that although Steensgaard chose to adopt @
structural interpretation, his analysis of the process Jeading to the fall of Hormuz was very de-
tailed and well-informed, and remains one of the best accounts in any language, a fact that has

been obscured by the polemic.

60 Among critics see Sanjay Subrahmanyam,
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archy’s imperial claims, which were largely based on a
' apal donati i
gs;zzli?r,otfhfhg?i()iﬁte}r?ba;goes decregd by Philip II in 1582 ﬁl orderaftl)oge'mﬁgzetlllz
s s S IberiancP re els and. their English allies, who conducted an important
e gpmsula, st}mul.ated their attempts to trade directly with the
Ao t, Za mg to a.w1den1ng of their war efforts in the name of newly-
i d;a e. I‘Ei is quite glear that Philip II’s tactic of commercial emba}rl—
Db exceSSiverf[lage its enemies, also backfired on various counts. However, it
i S tho ?onclude that the Portuguese trade in the East was target’ed
S el 15887 mcorp.or.atlon of P.ortugal.62 Although the commercial war
unicashed in fhe 155 s pr;m_pltated .the risky ventures of Northern traders into the
pasy Ind a,nd thje . 1isy of rival natlons.f.or the commercial opportunities that the
. thaltor uguese were exploiting was also a powerful force. It is diffi-
GHIL I e T L1 anlzl épdependent Atlantic power would not have been tempted
e by ex, 1Orisee \ irect t.ra'dfa with the East, as indeed the English had beer;
P WithpS a?f tH e pos_51b111ty of alternative Northern passages even before
ity Atlal;l)tic - Hence it was only a matter of time that the maritime powers
ellenge i Borm ; espelzqally those who rejected papal authority, would seek to
ey hguese claim to a monopoly of all navigation and commerce in th

, in the same way that they sought trade with the Americas. Nor is ii

There :
e i(;;eécigﬁr; a\;va:i atlhpolwerf,ul economic rationale for the assault on Portuguese
B oo catkers weith59l? s the Portuguese were increasingly unable to supply
was due to the loss of m y fthe pepper and other spices they wanted (in part this
B ot o o tany of their ships). It is also clear that the uncompromising
R .tr ltllguese and .the Castilians in Asia, unwilling to share the
i fnff]:'l s huge potential for expansion, provoked a militarization of
i Weaknlct onfthe part of both the Dutch and the English, with the result
Bt commanics esi1 odthe Portuguese was revealed. It is worth noting that the
L TT—— esrwko efeated the Portuguese fleets off Surat in 1612 and again
B bish trade in Muyh Ten on a _nayal cor}ﬂict, and at that point simply sought to
- tg. a Ind_la; similarly, in Persia the English were seeking trade
B it nd b ntation with the Portuguese, and it was a combination of Portu-
B ot ersmp pressure that took them to attacking Hormuz. Therefore, it
cluded that in the 1600s the Portuguese miscalculated their power et’olo

GCOffre e 5 a plon
GCOffreill l;’?arrll((zrr, (giz;v)ld ;r QOllath? Philip II and his world in the 1580s”, in Richard Kagan &
Elliott (Cambridge lééS pain, Europe and {he Atlantic World: Essays in honour of Jo%m H.
unlikely that, on C(’)mm ) .pf. 245-66, especially p. 265, suggests as much: “it therefore see :
e e he’a o ;rcrc: grounds, merchants from northern Europe would have chosenntl(s)
B bocn Sbic o secureet?] neclesslary for even modest success in intercontinental trade had
they had done until the e e colonial produce they desired within the Iberian Peninsula —
mbargoes of 1585-86”. S
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T ity i i too reluctant to relinquish their repu-
confident of their military capacity in Asia, or cspecially after the fall

i i f a new reign in 1621, and :
n, and it was only at the start of a n« i 1, 2 / e
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which had in fact been largely achieved by 1609.

The two fundamental questions during the period when the Persian dip.lomatflcP ;:lglril—
tacts took place (1602-1619), encompassing the central years of the reign ot Fhilip

[

i ith ei lish was necessary was first ex-
6 The view that a compromise with either the Dutch or the Eng

ressed in November 1621 in a fascinating discussion between Antomo2 csig ?2()6ulvc)uaw :Lr;dglrel:;lc:(l)l
I;a Mota recorded by the latter (British Library, MS Egerton 1,133’_ff.' : trthe é(;uncu ol
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e 1131, £ 70r-v) is published in Documentagdo Ultramarina Por‘tuguessz,b ;
hos ’E'geﬁonS'lva R’e ;) (5 vols., Lisbon, 1960-1975), vol. 11, pp. 314-315. Th.e policy ha t':i:;‘
Amorgot tile 1Councilg of Portug,’al a few days earlier (vol. 11, pp. 386-387). It 1s'symp£on::1;bers
?}ire:e; atmosphere after the fall of Hormuz that Mota was S}lppOl‘ted py elxps:’;n;(e) mrgney 5
of the Council of State like Fernado Giron and Agustin Mexia: there% 151md;;ny s e e
ictly military answer. Mota had emerged in 1622-1623 as one 0 eading e
a S.mCt yf Portuguese India at the court, at a time when the idea of a P(')rtuguese, p Vi
fl"erfe(l)gan(garlier p%oposed by the likes of Anthony Sherley and Duarte Gc;)mretz Sacl)l::so)ngzzm "
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he wouid turn the tide, soon made the idea his own. See Antonio da SllV’f’i A/e{:gm,érias iy
egundo governo do vice-rei da India D. Francisco da Gama, 1622-16263 M ned i
fiegmia das Ciencias de Lisboa: Classe de Letras, 19 (1978), PP 323-346. Me S0defeated N
in fact critical of Francisco da Gama’s evasive tactics Whe:n his large fleet wa o
g:)mbined Anglo-Dutch effort during the voyage to India in 1622 (weakening the
effort to recover Hormuz), and even requested h1§ reca‘ll.
64 Jonathan Israel, The Dutch Republic and the Hispanic

74-81.

World, 1606-1661 (Oxford, 1982), PP-
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III, was why the Portuguese and Castilians together were so ineffective in their mili-
tary and naval response to the Dutch and English assault in Asia, and especially why
they failed to profit from the opportunities opened up by the peace treaties signed
with James I and the Dutch Republic. In effect, Philip II had ended his reign bank-
rupt and with too many fronts open, although he sought to close one by signing the
peace of Vervins with Henry IV of France (1598), which in turn weakened the An-
glo-Dutch alliance that had confronted Spain since the 1580s. It was however clear
that any opportunity to simply regain the Northern Netherlands was by then gone, as
a powerful Dutch Republic of seven rebel provinces had consolidated. Given the
costs of war, sooner of later some kind of peace agreement would become necessary,
however temporary. The succession of James Stuart to England created an opportu-
nity, as the new king, turning his back on the hard-line Protestant faction of the late
years of Queen Elizabeth, was keen on reaching peace with Spain, and of course the
Dutch would be more inclined to compromise without support from either France or
England. Equally promising had been the establishment in 1598 of a semi-
independent dynasty in the Southern Netherlands, led by Archduke Albert (nephew
of Philip II, and married to his eldest daughter Isabel Clara Eugenia), who soon
realised that there was little hope for a purely military solution to the religious split
and political rebellion of the Low Countries. In fact, Philip II had agreed that Albert
might negotiate a peace with the rebels, although the Dutch seemed less keen.%
Although Albert was assisted by an able general, the Genoese Ambrosio Spinola,
over the year he increasingly came to prioritize the needs of his subjects over the
views of the Council of State in Spain. Those voices in Madrid arguing that a tempo-
rary respite was essential for the royal finances thus found a very favourable inter-
national situation, and despite his limited personal taste for conceding what de facto
was a defeat of the uncompromising religious and dynastic principles inherited from
his father, Philip III began his reign with a prospect of peace with both England and
the Netherlands. However, the actual agreements took years to crystallize, especially
in relation to the Netherlands, where the Spanish sought some last-minute military

advantage in order to enforce better terms (requiring some additional financial ef-
forts, albeit to very little effect).

With the peace with England of 1604 and the truce with the Dutch of 1609, the Duke
of Lerma achieved his greatest foreign policy aims, establishing what historians have
come to define as the Pax Hispanica, however reluctantly it had been embraced in
many quarters.® For the first time in decades, the Monarchy was disengaged from

® As noted by the ambassador of Rudolf 1I: Diario de Hans Khevenhiiller: embajador imperial en
la corte de Felipe 11, ed. Sara Veronelli & Félix Labrador Arroyo (Madrid, 2001), pp. 448, 464-

. 465.1 am grateful to Mia Rodriguez Salgado for this observation.
The notion of a Pax Hispdnica cannot be accepted without qualifications: it was, I must empha-
size, a relative peace, which only applied opportunistically to some fronts (for example, there
was military conflict over Mantua in Northern Italy in 1613-1615). The selective extension of
‘guerra defensiva’ overseas, for example to the conflict with the Araucanians in Chile, was
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any major military conflicts in Europe, and could afford to pursue long-term poli-
cies. Very soon, however, the situation became complicated in Northern Italy, where
those who resented Spanish dominion (and there were many) increasingly turned
towards the Bourbons in France. It is possible that the many delays in reaching an
agreement with the Dutch — more than a decade after the peace of Vervins with
France — had jeopardized any opportunity to restore the Monarchy’s finances. By
1609 Lerma’s plans for restoring the Monarchy’s public finances were coming to
nothing, some of his key secretaries had been accused of corruption (Lerma in fact
betrayed them to save his skin), and his own star at the court had started to wane.

Alas, the agreements of 1609 were also quite imperfect as far as Portugal’s overseas
trade was concerned, and it is clear that Portuguese interests were not prioritized in
the negotiations. This was a time when the Dutch pressure was being felt quite dra-
matically across the East Indies: in the Spice Islands (where the Dutch had seized
Ambon and other outposts, reviving Ternate’s native resistance), the Coromandel
coast in India (were the VOC had begun to trade in Masulipatnam and Pulicat) and
even Japan (it was precisely in 1609 that the Dutch established themselves in
Hirado). The Portuguese were most unwilling to concede that they would share the
trade of India, and expected that the Dutch would be legally forced to abolish the
VOC. However, although this had indeed been their starting position in 1606, for the
Spanish negotiators it became unrealistic to insist on that blanket prohibition, given
that the Portuguese only controlled a few outposts in these areas, and that the Dutch
did not accept any of their imperial claims (it was during the negotiations that Hugo
Grotius, writing on behalf of the VOC, developed his thesis of the freedom of the
seas).®” As had also been the case a few years earlier when negotiating with the Eng-
lish about colonies in North America, it was especially difficult to prevent other
European nations from trading or establishing outposts in those areas where there

==
largely coincidental, as it responded to co
spect I would qualify the arguments offerc.:d by 'J
Buen Gobierno. La Guerra defensiva y el imperia
lle, 2010). Nevertheless, not being at war against t

ate a new momentum ] . ' e
67 The Mare Liberum (an extract from a larger work) was first published in Leiden in the spring

1609, at the suggestion of the Zeeland chamber Qf th§ VQC, apd as prepa\r/a(t)lgn ler1 :ﬁt;l(grtfrl:f
should not prevent the Dutch from trading in Asia — in effect }t gave tl?e 1604a ot A
taliation. The original work known as De Iure Praedae, written dgrlng : P 06
commissioned by the VOC, was a comprehensive defence of the selgure 0 ztah oru %1 .
rack in the straits of Singapore in 1603, which unexpectedly led Grotius to a Or(t)ia%ions e
of natural law and the ius gentium. It was much more extensive, but Ehe 'tr}lice n::g(()j -y
it convenient only to publish the one chapter that declargd the VO'C s rigl t.t(})l rz e vt
It is significant how quickly the book was translated 1r_1to Engllsh by Rl((; arG e
Hugo Grotius, The Free Sea, ed. David Armitage (Indlz.mapohs, 2004). n o
VOC more generally, Martine van Ittersun, Profit and Principle: Hugo Groztgz)sé

theories and the rise of Dutch power in the East Indies, 1595-1615 (Leiden, ).
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was no genuine Iberian dominion.®® Interestingly, Grotius was to develop his thesis
that the Dutch had the right to trade and make contracts with independent native
princes on the basis of the natural law principles of Dominican theologians of Span-
ish nationality such as Francisco de Vitoria, who had rejected the validity of a papal
donation of civil and political rights belonging to rational pagans.® Whilst Philip III
was not prepared to give up his imperial titles in Asia as a matter of principle, and
the Valladolid Professor Serafim de Freitas would eventually respond to Grotius
with the uncompromising De Iusto Imperio Lusitanorum Asiatico (written in 1616,
but not published until after the twelve-year truce ended), in order to make a truce
possible the Portuguese were forced to restrict their explicit claims to those areas
they actually controlled.” It did not help the Spanish position that, during the pro-
tracted negotiations, the priority of the Council of State in Madrid seems to have
been to guarantee the religious rights of Catholics in the rebel provinces (the reli-
gious scruples of Philip III played an important role in this respect), whilst the VOC
created a powerful lobby that hardened the Dutch position on trade, forcing Olden-
barnevelt to retract an initial promise to dissolve the VOC.”" The eventual adoption
of a limited twelve-year truce over a permanent peace reflected how far apart the

two sides still were at the end of the negotiations: this was an agreement driven by

sheer necessity, as all parties found it impossible to continue financing the war, but

no compromise was reached on any questions of principle. The temporary nature of
the agreement also facilitated that the question of the trade of the Indies would be

fudged. In effect, peaceful commerce was agreed for the Dutch in the Spanish Penin-

sula, ending the embargoes that had been so detrimental to all parties, but the truce

did not fully apply to Asian waters. Ambiguously, without mentioning the East In-

% The English peace of 1604 provided many important precedents for the Dutch truce of 1609.

Not least was the success of the English negotiator, Secretary of State Robert Cecil (1563-
1612), 1in making sure that English trading prospects in the North Atlantic would not be dam-
aged by Spanish claims to a colonial monopoly, resorting to ambiguity in order to avoid openly
challenging Spanish honour (see Pauline Croft’s entry on Robert Cecil in Dictionary of Na-
tional Biography).

This was made possible because Vitoria and his many followers had developed their arguments
in relation to defining the rights of American Indians, in what was in effect a dispute within the
Crown of Castile about their own empire. In the context of intra-European disputes about trad-
ing rights the same arguments could mean something very different: the general natural law
principles the Dominicans appealed to, their humanitarian radicalism, and their authority as
scholastic theologians, made it possible for Grotius to easily demolish the traditional Portu-
guese titles to conquest, navigation and commerce in Asia.

Freitas in effect adapted Vitoria’s natural law arguments to the Portuguese East by insisting on
the universality of the right to preach, whilst circumscribing the right to trade to contracts be-
tween sovereign powers, and claiming for Portugal the navigation of the high sea route on the
basis of custom and acquired rights. See C. H. Alexandrowicz, “Freitas versus Grotius”, British
Yearbook of International Law, 35 (1960), pp. 162-182, who notes how close Grotius and
p Freitas were on some basic points about native sovereignty — precisely Vitoria’s principles.

Jon?(l)tgan Israel, The Dutch Republic: Its Rise, Greatness and Fall, 14771806 (Oxford, 1995),
p. 402.
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guese (but also to the Spanish in Manila). The only possible explanation is that the
court in Madrid felt confident about the resilience of its vast network of forts in the
Estado da India, and had not yet realised how dangerous Dutch ships could be in
Asian waters, probably assuming that it was only a matter of time before a formida-

ble fleet of galleons would be able to chase them away, the ill-fortune of some recent
voyages notwithstanding.”

Unfortunately, the peace treaty was not followed up with a sustained naval effort
equal to the task.” In the following twelve years, a combination of insufficient sup-
port from Portugal and military ineptitude in India would mean that the Portuguese
lost out, rather than gain, from the non-extension of the truce overseas. In other
words, the Portuguese desire to fight back with more vigour suffered from the illu-
sion of a military capacity that was simply not there. Had Philip III agreed to freeze
the positions in Asia in 1609 and allowed the VOC some free trade with native pow-
ers, as had been proposed, he would have saved a great deal of money, ships and
men, as well as facilitate that the Portuguese maintain their superior commercial
position, given the vastness of their existing network of private trade and its high
capital value. The VOC in fact relied on seizing Portuguese prizes for its profitabil-
ity during the early years, hence a real truce in the East might have put its commer-
cial operations under financial pressure. Not least, peace in the Indies might have
diminished the pressures that led to the resumption of open conflict after the truce
expired in 1621. However, in 1609 very few people in Spain, least of all the Portu-
guese, were prepared to contemplate the idea that the Crown would give up its mo-
nopolistic claims to all the trade of Asia, however unrealistic this position may ap-
pear in retrospect.”® The whole Carreira system of annual fleets carrying pepper and
other luxury products to Europe was bound to its monopolistic assumptions. Inter-
estingly the Dutch, however different their ideological justifications for monopolistic

™ In effect the truce created a legal precedent that went against Portuguese interests in Asia with-

out giving the Spanish much in exchange, other than the immediate ceasing of hostilities the
Monarchy (but also the Republic) desperately needed, and the hope that all Dutch gains would
eventually be reversed, that is, when the financial situation improved and war could be re-
sumed. Of course this never happened: with the Dutch almost isolated and the relative military

success of Spinola, in 1609 the Monarchy had the strongest position it would ever enjoy in the

. seventeneth century.

Lerma in fact continued with secret negotiations to reach a more lasting peace agreement, but
5 tomno effect, as the hardliners were also seizing control on the Netherlands.

Interestingly, in his report to Mendo da Mota in November 1621 concerning the reasons why
the Estado da India was in crisis, bishop Antdnio de Gouveia made it clear that it was in part
the fault of the Portuguese that they had not seized the chance for a permanent peace in 1609:
“por que yo vi con mis propios ojos entrar en Lisboa una nave suia que llevava los capitulos de
la tregua para la publicar a los suios en la India; no se dieron los portugueses por entendidos
desso, y fueron continuando la guerra con tan malos suggessos y con tan poca disciplina que

estdn las fuercas del estado en la tltima miseria de total ruina”. British Library, MS Egerton
1133, ff. 258r-261r.
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South-East Asia by a rival trading monopoly, equally armed a}nd even more strlgtly
enforced, built upon the right to reach exclusive agreements with independent native
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powers.’

practices, soon adopted a remarkabl
lish, their former allies. An armed

Therefore, notwithstanding the peace of 1604 and the truce of 1.609, the Portuguese
determination to expel both the English and the Dutch from Asian trade led them to
a continuous conflict which the English East India Compan}.l .generally sought to
avoid, and the VOC increasingly embraced with glee. This difference 'of approgch
between the two northern nations owed a great deal to the size? of their respective
operations. The Dutch invested more money and sent more ships to the East, _and
their experience in the islands East of Malacca, where :[he Portugu.ese were particu-
larly weak, made them confident that they could benefit from seizing furthe?r prizes
and enclaves from the Portuguese. The English by contrast sought to ejstabllsh their
trade whilst actively avoiding direct conflict with the Portuguese, ?nd it was largely
in reaction to Portuguese attacks that they scored their naval victories. It was also the
case that their ruler James I took the peace of 1604 seriously ‘and sought to
strengthen it, and even after the fatal intervention of tl}e Company In Homuz, the
English court was in deep negotiations with the Spamsh for. a dynastic match bg-
tween the heir Charles and a Spanish Infanta (leaving aside for a moment the tragi-

comic unravelling of that particular plan).

Although by 1621 the Portuguese position seemed largely intact, in reality there
existed very deep causes for concern, a situation which the fall of Hormuz soon
confirmed. In effect the joint Hispanic Monarchy was losing the maritime war, not-
withstanding some occasional victories, especially by the Castilians from Manila.
The large offensives planned in India and the Spice Islands under Dom Jeronimo de
Azevedo precisely at the time of Don Garcia’s embassies were particularly fruitless.
It is important to emphasize that at this stage the superiority of the Dutch and Eng-
lish Companies was naval and military, rather than commercial.”® This might seem

ption of the war in 1621, but already during tllle
lish their right to monopolies (for example in
former champion of the freedom of the
de and navigate could be circum-
may de facto
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have been forced).
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1580-1645 (Leiden, 2000).
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paradoxical, as some historians have traditionally emphasized the economic superi-
ority of the joint-stock companies, supposedly more modern in their corporate or-
ganization than the ‘feudal’ system operated by the Portuguese, characterized by
inefficient Crown involvement, massive tax evasion, and the growth of private trade.
There can be no doubt that the Companies provided a new operational model in
which the merchants themselves ran all the operations, using the authority of the
state to make war and peace, but with a long-term commercial focus and discipline
lacking in the Portuguese and Spanish systems. The Dutch offered the purest form of
this model of full control by a Board of Directors, whilst in the British case there
was some Crown involvement, exemplified by the dispatch of Sir Thomas Roe as
ambassador to the court of Jahangir. However, despite the many flaws of the Portu-
guese system, of which perhaps the crucial one was the difficulty of imposing a
consistent policy, the fact remains that the Carreira between Lisbon and Goa, com-
bined with the licensed journeys or country trade, and the various customs revenues
in a number of key locations, continued to generate huge profits. These were shared
between the Crown, those officers who systematically cheated the very Crown they
were supposed to represent (for example the captain of Hormuz), and many private
investors, of which the New Christians formed the most important group. By con-
trast with this flourishing of capital gains, the Portuguese fleets were clearly insuffi-
cient to maintain the war effort, both in quantity and quality. Seen in this light, it
was as a war machine that the VOC became most effective.”

Some of the structural problems of the Estado da India were well known to contem-
poraries. Viceroys regularly complained of lack of money, ships and men. Often the
authorities in Goa found themselves unable to buy enough pepper simply because
Lisbon had not sent enough silver, and they had to borrow locally instead. There
were important reserves of private capital in Portuguese India which could be used
to cover these gaps, but the Crown could not untap these financial resources (for
example by selling offices) without perpetuating the system of corruption that en-
sured that private trade continued to undermine the king’s own monopolies and
customs revenues. There was also the problem of chronic underinvestment in the
fleets, often because the Crown sougth to make a substantial gain from the trading
contracts associated with each annual armada, a tendency which can be set in sharp
contrast with the determination of the VOC to send larger fleets and to reinvest the
procet?ds of sales of spice to strengthen its military position and maximize its trading
Capacity. For example, before the truce negotiations Lerma’s regime diverted the
proceeds of the Portuguese contracts towards the wars in F landers, weakening the
fleets of India and in effect allowing the Dutch to consolidate their footholds in

.
79 3 ; = .

tIl;hlS constitutes an important correction of Steensgaard’s structural analysis, which privileges

e Company’s relation to the markets, but can also serve as a corrective to those who will not

accept the decisive nature of some substantial differences between the Estado da India and the
northern Companies.
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to deploy them effectively.®® In addition, a single shipwreck or a single capture by
the enemy had a massive impact.* Hence, in the light of how real those dangers had
become in the 1600s, it would have been sensible to spread the risk with a different
type of fleet. In the face of losses of around 20% in the worst decades, men of ex-
perience such as Admiral Jodo Pereira Corte-Real and the New Christian trader and
reformer Duarte Gomes Solis became articulate advocates of just such a change, but
their advice either went unheeded, or came too late.®® The slowness of the Crown’s
reaction to the Dutch naval challenge (despite intermittent efforts to send large fleets
of galleons) was compounded by repeated organisational failings. In particular, de-
lays in the preparation of the fleets departing from Lisbon or back from Goa led to
late voyages which resulted in sensational shipwrecks, or even the cancellation of
some voyages. This administrative failing, linked to poor financial planning, is re-
markable considering how well the monsoon season was understood, and the accu-
mulated experience of generations of Portuguese pilots. It can be argued that a rapa-
cious Crown starved its own armadas from the liquidity needed for proper planning,

leading to last minute expedients that could only increase real costs. Reliance on the

discretion of viceroys in Goa, whose personal level of competence varied enor-
mously, and on a complex web of councils and juntas in Lisbon and in Madrid,

where a few competent officers often found their executive capacity severely cir-

cumscribed by unrealistic demands and jurisdictional rivalries, could not deliver the

professional focus and regular capitalization that a joint-stock Company like the

83

Galleons represented a much better alternative than carracks for military encounters.
84

Consider Bentley Duncan’s highly influential figures given in his “Navigation between Portu-
gal and Asia in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries”, in E. van Kley & C. K. Pullapily
(eds.), Asia and the West: Encounters and exchanges from the age of exploration (Notre Dame
IN, 1986), pp. 3-25. Whilst it is clear that the navigational weakness of the carreira developed
throughout the sixteenth century, driven by the pressure to augment tonnage at the lowest cost,
historians continue to argue about the relative impact of economic pressures and Dutch attacks,
and more generally about the negative significance of the Union of Crowns. On this latter point
see Paulo Guinote, Eduardo Frutuoso & Antonio Lopes, Naufrdagios e outras perdas da Car-
reira da India, séculos XVI e XViI (Lisbon, 1998). André Murteira offers an informed review of
the debate in “O corso neerlandés contra a Carreira da india no primeiro quartel do século
XVII”, Anais de Historia de Além-Mar, 9 (2008), pp. 89-126.

Juan Pereira Corte Real, Discursos sobre la navegacion de las naos de la India de Portugal
(Madrid, 1622). Duarte Gomes Solis, Discursos sobre los comercios de las dos Indias (Madrid,
1622). The publication of both works seems to belong to the same moment, an urgent re-as-
sessment of the Portuguese empire (following the fall of Hormuz) by the more dynamic regime
of the new privado Olivares, hence they were written in Castilian for circulation in Madrid.
However, Duarte Gomes Solis had for many years been urging Lerma to launch a more deci-
sive naval policy in Asia, for example in 1612, albeit with little success. Corte-Real’s sugges-
tion that three-deck ships should replace four-deck carracks was actually adopted, but there was
a great deal of opposition in Lisbon, and eventually he himself complained that a more radical
re-design of the ships was needed. See further Charles R. Boxer, “Admiral Jodo Pereira Corte-
Real and the construction of Portuguese East-Indiamen in the early seventeenth century”, in
From Lisbon to Goa, 1500-1700: Studies in Portuguese maritime enterprise (London, 1984),
PP. 388-406; J. Calvet de Magalhaes, “Duarte Gomes Solis”, Studia, 19 (1966), pp. 119-171.
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VOC was soon able to deploy. From 1600 to 1624, the contrast betw&;c:nl the losstzes
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Hence, the little that was done proved remarkably ineffective. At some points there
was some bad luck with shipwrecks, for example when in 1608 a record twenty-one
ships divided in two squadrons departed Lisbon to relieve both Goa and Malacca,
yet half the fleet was lost, including one carrying the viceroy himself, the Count of
Feira. However, it is difficult to escape the conclusion that there were also structural
reasons why the Portuguese naval efforts, supported to some extent by the Castilians
from the Philippines, proved so disappointing. The pattern of military confrontations
seems clear enough. Looking at the English Company’s activities in the Mughal
ports of northwest India alone, in 1612-1613 Nuno da Cunha’s four galleons were
unable to prevent Thomas Best from trading in Surat, and in early 1615 viceroy
Jeronimo de Azevedo personally led a substantial armada that accomplished nothing
against Nicholas Downton’s smaller fleet, an event which fatally weakened the naval
reputation of the Portuguese (already dented by the clash of 1612) at the Mughal
court. All could see how a substantial Portuguese fleet of six galleons supported with
many auxiliary ships was tactically outmanoeuvred by only four English merchant-
men. Having twice the number of men and guns counted for little if one could not
deploy them effectively, and Downton, a talented naval commander, managed to
prevent a close battle. In this occasion the Portuguese were overconfident and poorly
coordinated, and when the viceroy eventually reached the already laden English
ships in open seas, he had left behind his own fleet and did not dare attack alone (his
prudent retreat was a huge blow to his military reputation, and Don Garcia was par-
ticularly scathing). It was therefore not surprising that a few years later Shah Abbas
counted on English sea power in order to dislodge the Portuguese from Hormuz —
their reputation had been truly damaged. In late 1620 and early 1621 Rui Freire de
Andrade’s four galleons, sent from Lisbon in order to protect Hormuz, failed to
expel an equal number of Company ships from Jask, and instead were subjected to
appalling losses from English guns. Having thoroughly alienated the Persians with
his destructive raids, the flawed Portuguese hero was now unable to protect Hormuz,
and when a year later Shah Abbas finally launched his attack, no Portuguese galle-
ons dared confront a larger English fleet at sea.” The Portuguese had lost their con-

those defending the integration of the Portuguese and Spanish commercial networks in East
Asia.

Rui Freire was caught trying to build a new fortress at the island of Qishm, the island that
supplied Hormuz with water and victuals, according to a decision taken in Madrid, but against
the advice of the Governor at Goa Ferndo de Albuquerque. Luis de Brito, who had been left as
commander of the fleet, dared do nothing against the English fleets, alleging lack of gunpow-
der, and his galleons were destroyed whilst moored in Hormuz without offering effective re-
sistance. Brito, accused of cowardice, was later executed in Goa. For a summary account see
Charles R. Boxer, “Anglo-Portuguese rivalry in the Persian Gulf, 1615-1635”, in Portuguese
Conquest and Commerce in Southern Asia, 1500-1750 (Aldershot, 1985), I. The response in

Madrid to the news can be followd in the documents at British Library, MS Egerton 1131, ff.
76r-152v.
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feared that a similar fate awaited Hormuz.” However, by then experienced observers
like Antonio de Gouveia not only understood how precarious the Portuguese posi-
tion had become, but did not hesitate to identify the underlying causes of such dra-
matic decline as a combination of incompetent and corrupt leadership in Goa (he
was thinking of viceroys like Azevedo), financial mismanagement of the royal pat-
rimony, leading to chronic underinvestment in the fleets prepared in Lisbon, and the
naval power of European rivals, which experience showed to be superior to the Por-
tuguese. As we have seen, Gouveia concluded that an accommodation was inevitable
either with the Dutch (by extending the truce of 1609) or with the English.” It seems
inescapable to conclude that Lerma’s regime had wasted two crucial decades to
address both the problems of the Monarchy’s relationship to the kingdom of Portu-
gal, and the defence of its oriental empire. However reluctant the peace process had
been, the treaties of the 1600s offered a unique window of opportunity for reform
without the immediate financial pressure of continuous warfare. This was well un-
derstood at the time, and the necessity for financial relief was in fact the key justifi-
cation for accepting the loss of reputation implied by signing treaties with rebels and
heretics. It is symptomatic that it was only after those treaties had been signed that
the longstanding plan to expel all moriscos from Spain was implemented by Lerma
and Philip III. The decision involved a triumph of reason of state, coloured by piety,
over sheer economic calculations, as the moriscos above all else were seen to pose a
threat to national security. Precisely for that reason, the implementation of the plan
required a relatively peaceful international context. At the same time, the timing of
the expulsion allowed Lerma to divert attention from the humiliation of the truce (as
many hardliners interpreted it in Spain), restoring the image of the Monarchy as
protector of the Church. It is perhaps the gravest indictment of Lerma’s regime that
this massive expulsion of crypto-Muslims, Spanish people who had been systemati-
cally marginalized, forcibly converted to Christianity, and then persecuted for their
cultural practices, was the most memorable decision of the reign, and that the fragile
peace that had been achieved so painfully was used for little else, when so much
obviously needed doing. The Estado da India was only one of the victims of this
political misjudgement. The combination of a widely shared lack of realism in as-
sessing Portuguese naval capacity, insufficient investment in the armadas, and the
govermment’s inability to break through entrenched local interests in order to mobi-
lize resources more effectively, meant that by the start of Philip IV’s reign only one
genuine option was possible for the authorities in Goa: to open talks with the English
in order to reach a deal with the East India Company to share the trade of India.”*

4 According to Malyn Newitt, despite the failure to modernize, “in 1620 an optimistic survey of
the overseas empire might have suggested that Portugal had weathered the worst of the storm”
(A history of Portuguese overseas expansion, 1400-1668 [Abingdon, 2005], p. 213). Newitt’s
focus on areas such as East Africa or Sri Lanka does encourage an image of continued Portu-

53 8uese expansion, but there seem to be no solid grounds for serious revisionism.
o British Library, MS Egerton 1133, ff. 258r-261r (see notes 63 and 76 above).

As we have seen, this alliance had become agreed policy in early 1623 after the shock of the
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had its origins at the court, and although it gave no names, it did mention a libelo
infamatorio written by a Venetian agent in Baghdad against the ambassador which
had been distributed by the ambassador’s enemies in Spain. This anti-Castilian atti-
tude was a general one in the Portuguese nation, and allowed those who were often
divided in factions to unite against the common threat. Even the religious, in par-
ticular the Augustinian friars, were accused of sharing that attitude, and both bishop
Antonio de Gouveia and Belchior dos Anjos, who had separately been involved in
negotiations with Shah Abbas, were accused of imprudent behaviour (Gouveia, in
particular, provoked a persecution of oriental Christians and had to flee Shah
Abbas’s court), as well as active collaboration with those seeking to sabotage the
‘Castilian’ embassy (for example, by intercepting the ambassador’s letters). But not
all criticism was individualized. In general, all missionaries were excessively in-
volved in politics (it would be fair to note here that it was not always their fault, as
both Shah Abbas and Philip III relied on them for diplomatic exchanges). Even the
more saintly Carmelites such as Juan Tadeo, whom Don Garcia learnt to appreciate
despite having been sent by Rome rather than by the king, had made a mistake by
assisting Robert Sherley, an English Catholic at the service of Shah Abbas. Under
the guise of helping reach an agreement about a silk monopoly, Sherley (Saulisante
argued) was secretly working as a spy of the English (remarkably, at the same time
the poor man was being accused of unreliability by the English ambassador at the
Mughal court Sir Thomas Roe, and the East India Company would eventually shun
him no less than the court of Philip III).

The general criticism painted a very negative picture of Portuguese India, one that
easily compared with those of foreign travellers such as Francesco Carletti, Jan
Huyghen van Linschoten, Frangois Pyrard de Laval or Pietro della Valle. The Portu-
guese were too given to trade and had lost all sense of military discipline or training
(hence they lacked gunners). They had in fact been corrupted by the influence of the
local climate, becoming weak and dissolute. They lived in terror of the pirates from
Malabar. The captains of Hormuz cared little for keeping the fortress ready for bat-
tle, only bothering to survive the heat and conduct their lucrative private trade,
whilst cheating the royal treasury from its customs (which they shared with the king
of Hormuz and his relative the guazi/). Not surprisingly, the fortress was under-
manned and in an alarming state of disrepair, and a tempting target for a “barbarian”
king like Shah Abbas. In part the problem was that royal officials, of which the dis-
astrous Luis da Gama (who had provoked the Persian attack on Gombroon) became
a paradigmatic example, were given their jobs without any real qualification, just
because of who they were or what they paid (this was a common theme in arbitrista
literature in Spain: the lack of professionality of the royal administration). They used
tl_leir glree year stints to enrich themselves without any commitment to long-term
aims,

-
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These criticisms might have been unwelcome coming from a Castilian, but Portuguese critics
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In this context, the Dutch and the English cast an ominous shadow, and during Don
Garcia’s embassy the possibility that Shah Abbas would rely on the East Indian
Company for an attack on Hormuz was in everybody’s mind (leaving aside the fact
that their presence was a direct challenge to Portuguese imperial claims to a trade
monopoly in the Persian Gulf). Arguably, the whole tenor of the Hispano-Persian
diplomacy of the first two decades of the seventeenth century was conditioned by the
twin pressures of the Protestant trading nations in the sea, and of Shah Abbas (with
the active assistance of his Governors in Shiraz) in the mainland, creating a fatal
pincer movement. It was clear that Hormuz was under threat many years before it
fell, from the moment Aliverdi Khan conquered Lar in 1602, and promptly seized
the island of Bahrein and its pearl fisheries, which used to belong to the king of
Hormuz. When in 1614 Aliverdi Khan’s son Imam Quli Khan was provoked (largely
through the indiscretion of Luis da Gama) to seize the Portuguese fortress of Gom-
broon in the mainland across Hormuz, the fate of the Portuguese seemed sealed. If
the early attack on Bahrein had coincided with the first Persian embassies to Europe,
initially through the agency of Augustinian friars, the fall of Gombroon coloured
Don Garcia’s high profile return embassy. In effect, whilst the official talks were
primarily about a military and commercial alliance against the Ottomans, the secu-
rity of Hormuz was always part of the diplomatic horizon, and the elderly Castilian
ambassador found himself having to defend the sovereignty of Philip III over posi-
tions that could not be recovered by force.”® As the options of the Portuguese nar-
rowed, the Council of State in Madrid seemed to believe that it was best to keep
talking in order to avoid a catastrophe, although at the same time it felt unable to
commit to any serious resumption of the war against the Ottomans, other than occa-
sionally funding a corsair fleet in the Mediterranean. Arguably, to keep talking with-
out ever giving Shah Abbas what he wanted would eventually become counter-pro-
ductive. As no satisfactory agreement was ever forthcoming, the Persian ruler be-
came contemptuous and cynical, as Don Garcia quickly noted. There was a price to

be paid for disappointing expectations!

For example, in 1621 Rui Freire de Andrade wrote in despair to

itary spirit and unwillingness to offer support that he had found
in Hormuz. Upon reading this councillor Mendo da Mota gave vent to his feelings about the
terrible dangers facing Spain in a hurried note to Olivares (British Library, MS Egerton 1131,
£.17: also Documentagdo Ultramarina Portuguesa, vol. II, pp. 274-276). A year later, upon
learning of the fall of Hormuz, Mota declared “que no se perdio Ormuz por fuerca de los ene-
migos, mas por confusion, ignorancia y miedo de los que la defendian, y por haverse escusado
de hirle a socorrer los que heran obligados a hazerlo” (Documentagdo Ultramarina Portuguesa,
vol. II, p. 362).

% Whether the king of Hormuz was a vassal of the king of Portugal, as claimed by Don Garcia
according to the Portuguese tradition, or a potential subject of Shah Abbas, as the latter desired,
became the object of the most heated exchanges between the two.
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from exploiting its circulation through Aleppo. This, however, was a poor substitute
for Shah Abbas, who suddenly saw in the English the resource he needed to seize the
island.'® If locally, in Hormuz itself and in Goa, the various captains and casado
settlers were mostly concerned with exploiting the lucrative opportunities for trade,
relying on the Crown to defend their monopoly against European competitors, no
dynamic answer came from Europe either. Especially under Lerma’s regime the
policies coming from the court were hesitant and slow, with the added complication
of overlapping envoys undermining each other. It did not help that the psychological
distance between Madrid and Lisbon remained huge, and that communications with
Asia took at best five or six months, sometimes more than one year. Unsurprisingly,
in the context of the royal visit and Cortes of 1619 (which took place at the same
time that Don Garcia completed his sterile Persian embassy), the longstanding Por-
tuguese request that the Spanish court move to Lisbon in order to develop a more
dynamic maritime policy to defend both the Atlantic and Asian empires fell on deaf
ears. There was in any case a distinct lack of fluid institutional articulation between
the separate bodies in charge of the Estado da India, from the court of Philip III,
where the Councils of State and Portugal vied for control of the Persian policy, to
the viceroy in Lisbon and his own competing network of Councils of State, Fazenda
and (until 1614) India, with the additional complication of the mixed juntas set up
by Lerma, to, finally, the viceroy in Goa, not to mention the Council of Indies of
Castile, which was in charge of supporting the Philippines and the Moluccas through
New Spain. The Monarchy lacked a truly federal Council of State representing all its
territories, and when issues of general interest such as the truce with the Dutch were
discussed, the Council of Portugal was completely marginalized. In this way the
common interest was often reduced to the interests of the Crown as perceived by the
Castilian courtiers who controlled the Council of State, whilst outside it, the influ-
ence of confessors and theologians with privileged access to the royal family also
meant that religion had a disproportionate influence upon decision-making.

Despite the occasional contributions of some men of talent who acted as counsellors,
viceroys or governors, in Madrid, Lisbon or Goa, what is most apparent over the less
than two decades that went from the signing of a peace with the English in Europe to
the collapse of Don Garcia’s Persian embassy in the face of English commercial
penetration, is the lack of leadership provided by Philip III and his validos for the
needs of their fragile and corrupt Asian empire. The Estado da India was being
challenged by rivals who were able to rely on a revolutionary articulation of com-
mercial interests with naval power. The key issue, one only fully understood when it
was too late to do much about it, was how to mobilize resources in a more efficient

"% In addition, Shah Abbas had come to rely on the expensive silk contracts that he sold to the
Christian Armenian merchants of New Julfa in Isfahan. The commercial value of the Portu-
guese route remained to be seen, as Spain itself was a producer of silk, and the scheme was far -
from straightforwad, as it also required blocking the Red Sea.
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